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IN THE SEVENTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT 
 

IN AND FOR SAN JUAN COUNTY, STATE OF UTAH 
______________________________________________________________________________ 
      ) 
KELLY LAWS,    ) 
      )  
 Petitioner,    ) ANSWER 
      )  
v.      ) Case No. SJ180700016  
      )  
WILLIE GRAYEYES,   ) Judge:  Don M. Torgerson 
      )  
 Respondent.    ) 
      ) 
______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 Respondent Willie Grayeyes (sometimes called “Respondent”) respectfully submits this 

answer to the unverified complaint of Petitioner Kelly Laws (sometimes called “Petitioner”). 

AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSES 

 Respondent sets forth separately his affirmative defenses to the complaint with the 

following caveats.  Not all of the defenses set forth below may be affirmative defenses within the 

meaning of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, but they nevertheless are denominated as such in 
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this answer for the convenience of the Court in order to highlight various weaknesses in the 

unverified complaint.  Moreover, by denominating any of these defenses as affirmative, 

Respondent neither concedes nor waives any argument that, as to all matters affecting the 

outcome of this election contest, the Petitioner not only has the burden of moving forward but 

also the risk of non-persuasion at any trial on the merits thereof. Respondent naturally has not 

and does not and cannot waive any defense which he has on subject matter jurisdictional 

grounds. 

STANDING 

 The Petitioner lacks standing to bring this complaint.  In the absence of standing, this 

Court has no subject matter jurisdiction to adjudicate any issue raised in the complaint.  The 

election contest statute purports to confer standing upon registered voters, but the statute alone is 

insufficient to confer standing to sue.  Petitioner also must prove that he has standing in the 

constitutional sense – that he either suffered a redressable injury-in-fact or that he is qualified to 

bring this suit as a matter of public interest.  Petitioner cannot make either of these proofs as a 

matter of law.  Petitioner was defeated by Respondent in an election contest, but insofar as any 

cause for that defeat may constitute an injury in fact, such injury is not redressable under the 

election contest statute, since, even if Petitioner wins this litigation, a vacancy in the contested 

office will be declared, and the Utah election code provides that this vacancy will be filled by a 

member of the Democratic Party and Petitioner is a member of the Republican Party.  Petitioner 

does not qualify to bring this suit as a matter of public interest because he does not satisfy the 

judicially delineated criteria in Utah’s case law for such a plaintiff. 
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THE COMPLAINT IS UNVERIFIED 

 The election contest statute requires all complaints to be verified.  As with standing, this 

is a jurisdictional requirement.  Petitioner’s complaint was not verified.  Respondent has filed a 

motion to dismiss the complaint on this ground. The arguments in that motion are incorporated 

by reference in this answer. 

THE COMPLAINT FAILS TO STATE A CLAIM  
UPON WHICH RELIEF MAY BE GRANTED 

 
 The complaint fails to state a claim upon which relief may be granted.  Petitioner purports 

to claim that Respondent is not a resident of San Juan County and therefore Respondent was not 

electable to the office of San Juan County Commissioner.  But in March, 2018, the statutory 

provisions of the election code validated Respondent’s residency.  In order to rebut this 

validation, Petitioner has to allege that, after March, 2018, Respondent moved out of San Juan 

County and found a new principal place of residence in another county or out of state.  The 

complaint does not make any such allegation and hence is legally insufficient as a matter of law 

and must be dismissed.  Respondent has filed a motion to dismiss the complaint on this ground. 

The arguments in that motion are incorporated by reference in this answer. 

THE COMPLAINT IS BARRED BY LACHES 

 Election contests are equitable in nature and governed by equitable principles.  The 

equitable doctrine of laches requires dismissal of the complaint.  Under the circumstances of this 

case, Petitioner had a legal duty to raise his residency concerns on a pre-election basis at the 

earliest available opportunity.  He did not satisfy this legal duty. Under controlling Utah case 

law, the complaint accordingly is barred.  Respondent has filed a motion for summary judgment 

on this ground. The arguments in that motion are incorporated by reference in this answer. 
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THE COMPLAINT MAY BE BARRED ON THE BASIS OF  
THE EQUITABLE DOCTRINE OF UNCLEAN HANDS 

 
 Election complaints are equitable proceedings and subject to dismissal, therefore, on 

equitable grounds.  One such ground is the doctrine of unclean hands.  In order to obtain equity 

in an equitable proceeding, a Petitioner first must have behaved equitably so that he can come to 

court with clean hands.  On information and belief, Respondent claims that Petitioner was part of 

a group of San Juan County citizens who engaged in or otherwise countenanced illegal 

(including unconstitutional) behavior in an effort to keep Respondent off the 2018 ballot. Under 

these circumstances, Petitioner has unclean hands and his complaint should be dismissed. 

UTAH’S VOTER REGISTRATION STATUTE CREATES A PRESUMPTION THAT 
RESPONDENT, WHO HAS BEEN A REGISTERED VOTER IN SAN JUAN COUNTY 

FOR OVER 30 YEARS, IS A RESIDENT OF SAN JUAN COUNTY, THIS 
PRESUMPTION ONLY CAN BE OVERCOME BY CLEAR AND CONVINCING 

EVIDENCE, AND THE “EVIDENCE” SET FORTH IN THE UNVERIFIED 
COMPLAINT IS LEGALLY INSUFFICIENT IN THIS REGARD 

 
In 1984, Mr. Grayeyes registered to vote in San Juan County.  Voter registration, as 

everyone knows, depends upon a showing of residency.  Utah Code, §20A-2-101(1)(d).  When 

an application to vote is submitted to a county clerk, he is empowered, if there is a want of 

residency, to refuse registration.  Utah Code, §20A-2-304.  In 1984, when Mr. Grayeyes applied 

to vote, the clerk did not raise an issue of residency, and, instead, granted registration. That 

approval created a presumption that Mr. Grayeyes, as a legally registered voter, had his principal 

place of residence in San Juan County, a presumption which thereafter could not be overcome 

except on a showing, by clear and convincing evidence, that he had established a new principal 

place of residence, Utah Code, §20A-2-105(7), or, in other words, a fixed habitation in a single 

location other than Navajo Mountain to which he always intends to return, Utah Code, §20A-2-

105(1)(a).  
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Mr. Grayeyes has cast ballots in most San Juan County elections since he registered to 

vote there in 1984.  Utah’s election code, as all are aware, contains provisions for parties in 

interest, should they believe that a voter lacks residency, to object to his ballot on the ground of 

ineligibility. Utah Code, §20A-3-202.  From 1984 through 2016, however, no government 

official or law abiding citizen lodged an objection to Mr. Grayeyes’s status as a bona fide 

resident and legally registered voter. 

In 2016, after the County Clerk conducted what apparently was an illegal purge of 

Navajo voters, Mr. Grayeyes, re-stating his residency in San Juan County, re-registered to vote 

with the clerk.  The Clerk approved this application for registration, thereby renewing the 

statutory presumption that Mr. Grayeyes was a resident of San Juan County, a presumption 

which stands unless and until it is rebutted by a clear and convincing showing that he has 

changed his residence to another “fixed habitation” in a “single location” to which he intends to 

return.  Mr. Grayeyes in fact voted in the 2016 election and nobody, using the relevant statutory 

process, objected to his exercise of the franchise at that time.  This circumstance created a 

judicial presumption, independent of the statutory presumption already noted, that he is a 

resident of San Juan County. See, Beauregaard v. Gunnison City, 160 P. 815, 818-819 (Utah 

1916).  

The ”evidence” which Petitioner purports to present in his unverified complaint does not 

address this voter registration issue – nor does it purport to rebut the presumption of residency 

created by Utah’s election code – by clear and convincing evidence or otherwise. That 

“evidence” is insufficient as a matter of law, and the complaint should be dismissed accordingly. 
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RESPONDENT HAS HIS PRINCIPAL PLACE OF RESIDENCE AT NAVAJO 
MOUNTAIN IN SAN JUAN COUNTY 

 
 Petitioner’s complaint is an exercise in misdirection.  He asks the Court to focus on 

where Respondent may have “lived” at any given point in time or where he may “own” property 

in various locales.  Residency for election law purposes, however, is determined under Utah’s 

“principal place of residency” statute, and, under the criteria set forth therein, at all times 

relevant to this election contest, Respondent has had a principal place of residency on Navajo 

Mountain in San Juan County. 

1. Mr. Grayeyes’s Principal Place of Residence at Navajo Mountain 

Mr. Grayeyes was born March 15, 1946, the son of Tulley Grayeyes and Bertha Clarke.  

At the time of birth, both parents were residents of Navajo Mountain, San Juan County, Utah.  

Please see Mr. Grayeyes’s birth certificate which is attached as Exhibit A. 

 Consistent with Navajo tradition, Tulley and Bertha buried Mr. Grayeyes’s umbilical 

cord near their clan’s residences at Navajo Mountain.  This ceremonial burial is a sacred rite, 

signifying that Navajo Mountain is the permanent abode of the cord’s owner, in this case Mr. 

Grayeyes.  Please see the Supplemental Declaration of Willie Grayeyes, dated April 24, 2018,  

¶¶ 2 and 3, which is attached as Exhibit B (hereinafter “First Supplemental Grayeyes 

Declaration”).  Please see also the Affidavit of Dr. David Begay which is attached as Exhibit C.  

Please also see United States v. Tsosie, 849 F. Supp. 768, 774-775 (D. N. M. 1994).  Please also 

see the Nielson deposition excerpts, pp. 99-100, attached as part of Exhibit O. 

 Mr. Grayeyes grew up with his family in Navajo Mountain and attended school there.  

Please see Declaration of Willie Grayeyes dated April 19, 2018, ¶¶ 6 and 7, which is attached as 

Exhibit D (hereinafter “Grayeyes Declaration”). 
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 For at least the last 20 years, Mr. Grayeyes has had a residence, a fixed habitation in a 

single location, which is at Navajo Mountain in a rural area near Paiute Mesa in Utah (sometimes 

referred to as “Piute Mesa”).  Please see the Grayeyes Declaration, Exhibit D, ¶¶ 5, 8, 9, and 10.  

He runs cattle at this location, pursuant to a permit granted under authority of the Navajo Nation 

Grazing District 2-3.  Please see the Declaration of Russell Smallcanyon, dated May 2, 2018, 

which is attached as Exhibit E (hereinafter “Smallcanyon Declaration”).  Russell Smallcanyon is 

the Grazing Officer for Navajo Nation Grazing District 2-3, and, based upon his official and 

hence personal inspection of Mr. Grayeyes’s home and cattle, Smallcanyon attests that Grayeyes 

has a home and cattle business in San Juan County, Utah.  Smallcanyon Declaration, Exhibit E, 

¶¶ 5, 7, and 8. 

 Mr. Grayeyes is an enrolled member of the Navajo Nation, portions of which are in Utah 

and Arizona.  He resides in the Navajo Mountain Chapter of the Navajo Nation and serves as a 

Chapter Official for Navajo Mountain, Utah, the Secretary/Treasurer for the Navajo Mountain 

Chapter, and as Chairman of the School Board for the Naatsis’ann [Navajo Mountain] 

Community School.  Grayeyes Declaration, Exhibit D, ¶¶ 2, 14, 15, and 16, and Exhibit F. 

 Vital services, such as mail delivery, are obtained with difficulty at Navajo Mountain, 

given its remote, rural character.  Hence, residents of Navajo Mountain typically use a post office 

box at Tonalea, Arizona, as a mailing address, from which mail is collected and then delivered 

by truck to Navajo Mountain.  Mr. Grayeyes uses this service so that he can collect mail near his 

home in Navajo Mountain.  Please see the Declaration of Lena Fowler, dated April 25, 2018, ¶ 

11, which is attached as Exhibit G (hereinafter “Fowler Declaration”).  See also Grayeyes 

Declaration, Exhibit D, ¶¶ 11 and 12.  San Juan County officials, including the County Clerk’s 

office, are aware that Navajos like Mr. Grayeyes are forced to use a Tonalea, Arizona, post office 
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box address so that they can obtain mail delivery, pursuant to the arrangement described above, 

in proximity to their homes in or near Navajo Mountain.  Please see the Deposition of Norman 

Johnson, at page 42, found in the record for Navajo Nation v. San Juan County, civ. no. 1:12-cv-

00039-RS (D. Utah, June 23, 2015) a copy of which, in pertinent part, is attached as Exhibit H.  

Please also see the excerpts from the Nielson deposition at p. 29, which are attached as part of 

Exhibit O. 

 Mr. Grayeyes always has been active politically in San Juan County, serving as 

chairperson of the Board of Directors for Utah Dine Bikeyah, the Utah based, non-profit entity 

which has advocated vigorously for establishment of the Bears Ears National Monument.  He 

also has been a registered voter in San Juan County and has voted in San Juan County elections 

for at least the last 18 years.  Grayeyes Declaration, Exhibit D, ¶¶ 13, 17, 18, and 20, and Utah 

Dine Bikeyah corporate records attached as Exhibit I.  He never has resided – or voted – in 

Arizona.  Grayeyes Declaration, Exhibit D, ¶¶ 32 and 20, and Fowler Declaration, Exhibit G, ¶¶ 

12 and 13.  Please also see the excerpts from the Nielson deposition, at pp. 94-95, which are 

attached as part of Exhibit O. 

 Mr. Grayeyes is aware of the allegations in Petitioner’s complaint that Mr. Grayeyes 

owns property in Page, Arizona.  That home is a double-wide mobile home.  It was purchased in 

the 1980s so that Mr. Grayeyes’s children could live near a school which they were attending at 

that time -- because there were no schools at the time near Navajo Mountain.  His wife stayed 

with the children while they were attending school.  Mr. Grayeyes never has lived in that home, 

and, for a long time, after his children’s school needs had been met, Mr. Grayeye’s son, Stephen,  
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used the home for living quarters.  In recent months, Stephen moved to Phoenix and the home 

has been left vacant, boarded up, with all utility service stopped.  Please see the “Affidavit of 

Willie Grayeyes,” dated January 10, 2019, which is attached as Exhibit J.  

 Although Mr. Grayeyes’s work sometimes forced him to travel to Arizona, and although 

his responsibilities as an official in the Navajo Nation had him frequently commuting back and 

forth, from Utah to Arizona to Utah, he always regarded his home to be at Navajo Mountain as 

the principal place of residence to which he intended forever to return.  Grayeyes Declaration, 

Exhibit D, ¶ 10. 

2. Mr. Grayeyes’s Voter Registration History, Including the County Clerk’s Decision 
That He Was Qualified to Be A Candidate for County Commissioner in 2012 

 
 In 1984, Mr. Greyeyes registered to vote as a resident in San Juan County, state of Utah.  

Grayeyes Declaration, Exhibit D, ¶ 17.  Please also see the official voting record of San Juan 

County Clerk’s Office, Column J, which is attached as Exhibit K.   

Although voting records are available only back to 1999, those records indicate that Mr. 

Grayeyes has voted consistently since that time to the present as a resident of San Juan County.  

Grayeyes Declaration, Exhibit D, ¶¶ 18 and 19.  Please also see the official voting record of the 

San Juan County Clerk’s Office, Row 1263, Columns AH-DM, which is attached as Exhibit K. 

In 2012, Grayeyes was the nominee of the Democratic Party for a seat on the San Juan 

County Commission.  At that time, for the first time, his residency (and hence his eligibility as a 

voter and candidate) in San Juan County was challenged.  The County Clerk at that time, 

Norman Johnson, overruled this challenge, and Grayeyes was certified as a bona fide resident to 

run in 2012 for a seat on the San Juan County Commission.  Grayeyes Declaration, Exhibit D, ¶ 

21.  Please also see Mr. Grayeyes’s 2012 candidacy related records which are attached as Exhibit 

L. 
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In 2016, Mr. Grayeyes applied to renew his voter registration as a resident in San Juan 

County, state of Utah.  Exhibit K, Column I.1  In Utah, applicants who currently do not reside in 

the voting precinct from which they are attempting to register are not eligible for voter 

registration.  Utah Code, §20A-2-101(1)(d).  Likewise in Utah, county clerks “shall” register 

applicants who meet the requirements (including the residency requirement noted above) for 

registration or reject applications where those requirements (including the residency requirement 

noted above) are not satisfied.  Utah Code, §20A-3-204. Under §20A-3-204(2)(b), in the event of 

rejection, the county clerk is to notify the applicant respecting the fact of rejection as well as “the 

reason for the rejection[.]”  John David Nielson was the County Clerk of San Juan County in 

2016; he approved and did not reject Mr. Grayeyes’s application to register to vote at that time. 

3. Grayeyes’s 2018 Declaration of Candidacy for County Commissioner 

In 2018, Mr. Grayeyes decided again to run for a seat on the San Juan County 

Commission, this time in District Two, newly established under a federal court’s redistricting 

order.  On March 9, 2018, as required by Utah Code, §20A-9-201(1), Mr. Grayeyes submitted 

his Declaration of Candidacy in this regard to the San Juan County Clerk.  Please see the 

Declaration of Candidacy attached as Exhibit M.  Mr. Grayeyes’s 2018 Declaration of 

Candidacy gives his residential address as 17 miles north of the Navajo Mountain Chapter House 

on Paiute Mesa.  This is the same residential address given to Norman Johnson, the County Clerk 

at that time, when Mr. Grayeyes declared his candidacy for County Commissioner in 2012.  

Exhibit L.  It is the same address he used on his application to register to vote in 1984 and when 

he renewed that registration in 2016. Exhibit K. 

                                                           
1 Mr. Grayeyes was forced to re-register because, in or about 2014, the County Clerk’s office 
systematically “purged” Navajos, including Mr. Grayeyes, from the voter registration rolls of San Juan 
County.     
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Page 2 of the Form of Declaration used by Mr. Grayeyes lists the qualifications – 

including residency requirements -- which candidates for the office of County Commissioner 

must have, tracking statutory language which is found at Utah Code, §§ 17-53-202 and 17-16-1.  

The Form notes that, before accepting a Declaration of Candidacy, the County Clerk must read 

these qualifications to the candidate and have the candidate affirm that he meets them.  It is 

undisputed that the county clerk accepted and filed the Declaration of Candidacy for Grayeyes 

without further ado. 

Utah Code, §20A-9-202(5), provides that Declarations of Candidacy are valid unless 

written objections thereto are made within 5 days of the last day for filing declarations of 

candidacy.  If an objection is made, notice promptly must be given to the candidate and the 

objection then must be resolved within 48 hours after the objection is filed.  The election 

official’s decision respecting form is final.  The election official’s decision respecting substance 

– for example, a determination based upon residency requirements -- is subject to judicial review 

on condition that prompt application for such review is made to a court.  Pursuant to Utah Code, 

§20A-9-407(3)(a), declarations of candidacy in Mr. Grayeyes’s case had to be filed on or before 

March 15, 2018, and, as calculated under Utah Code, §20A-1-401(3)(a), the 5-day bar date for 

objection to that declaration under Utah Code, §20A-9-202(5) would have expired March 20, 

2018.  No objection to Mr. Grayeyes’s candidacy, pursuant to Utah Code, §20A-9-202(5), ever 

was lodged with the relevant election official (in this instance, John David Nielson as county 

clerk) against the Grayeyes Declaration of Candidacy. Hence, Mr. Grayeyes’s affirmation of 

residency (on Navajo Mountain in San Juan County) in the Declaration of Candidacy continues 

to remain valid as a matter of law pursuant to Utah Code, §20A-9-202(5)(a). 
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4. The Only Relevant Inquiry for Residency Purposes 

In Utah, citizens have a right to vote but are not eligible to exercise that right absent 

registration.  Registration is conducted by county clerks and in order to register, among other 

proofs, the applicant must show that he or she “currently resides within the voting district or 

precinct in which the person applies to register to vote.”  Utah Code, §20A-2-101(d). 

Residency for voter registration purposes is defined in Utah Code, §20A-2-105(3)(b):  “A 

person resides within a particular voting precinct if, as of the date of registering to vote, the 

person’s principal place of residence is in that voting precinct.”  “Principal place of residence,” is 

a term of art which is defined in Utah Code, §20A-2-105, to mean “the single location where a 

person’s habitation is fixed and to which, whenever the person is absent, the person has the 

intention of returning.” 

When a person registers and names a principal place of residence under oath, there is a 

rebuttable presumption that he resides in Utah as well as the applicable precinct -- which 

presumption may be overcome only when, after objection, it is shown as a matter of law or by 

clear and convincing evidence that the individual’s principal place of residence is not in Utah.  

Utah Code, §20A-2-105(7).   

Mr. Grayeyes registered to vote with the San Juan County Clerk in 1984 and then 

renewed that registration in 2016.  On both occasions, he affirmed under oath that his principal 

place of residence was at a stated location in the vicinity of Navajo Mountain.  What is more, in 

2012, under challenge, the County Clerk, Norman Johnson, found that this indeed was Mr. 

Grayeyes’s principal place of residence -- for the purpose of both voter registration and candidate 

qualification.  Hence, when Mr. Grayeyes filed his Declaration of Candidacy on March 9, 2018, 

his Navajo Mountain address, not only enjoyed a presumption of veracity, rebuttable only by 
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clear and convincing evidence, as his principal place of residence for voter registration purposes, 

but also had been found expressly to be such in a 2012 decision by Norman Johnson as an 

election official.  These circumstances are reinforced by the statutory consequences which 

flowed from any failure to object to Mr. Grayeyes’s Declaration of Candidacy pursuant to Utah 

Code, §20A-9-202(5) and which are elaborated in Respondent’s motion to dismiss for failure to 

state a claim. 

This background is important because, pursuant to Utah Code, §20A-2-105(5)(b), a 

person may not have more than one principal place of residence at the same time, and §20A-2-

105(5)(c) says that a person does not lose one principal place of residence until he establishes 

another principal place of residence.  Hence, when these statutes are read in tandem with §20A-

2-105(7) and the circumstances described above, it means that, in order to prove – by clear and 

convincing evidence -- that Mr. Grayeyes no longer had a principal place of residence in Utah, 

Petitioner will have to prove by clear and convincing evidence that – on or after March, 2018 -- 

Mr. Grayeyes had established a new principal place of residence in Arizona. Remember, too, that 

principal place of residence, old or new, is defined to mean a “single location” with a “fixed 

habitation” to which the voter or candidate always intends to return.   

The relevant inquiry, accordingly, is not whether Mr. Grayeyes’s Navajo Mountain 

property – prior to March, 2018 -- had been his principal place of residence, a fact already 

established in the 2012 decision, if not by the presumption advanced in §20A-2-105(7)(a) and 

the statutory consequences which flow from Petitioner’s failure to object to the Declaration of 

Candidacy in March, 2018, pursuant to Utah Code, §20A-9-202(5).   

The relevant inquiry instead is whether Mr. Grayeyes, after March, 2018, had lost 

residency at Navajo Mountain by behavior, within the meaning of the statute, which signified 
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that he had established a new principal place of residence in Arizona.  Petitioner therefore must 

show by clear and convincing evidence that Mr. Grayeyes – again adverting to the statutory 

definition – had established in Arizona a “single location where a person’s habitation is fixed and 

to which, whenever the person is absent, the person has the intention of returning.”  Utah Code, 

§20A-2-105(1)(a).   

Petitioners complaint, however, focuses primarily, if not exclusively, on whether 

Grayeyes “lives” at Navajo Mountain, and nowhere demonstrates, or even analyzes – using the 

factors set forth in §20A-2-105(4) -- whether or where Mr. Grayeyes might have a “single 

location” with a “fixed habitation” to which he always had the intention of “returning” in 

Arizona.   

The only possible “evidence” to which Petitioner could have resorted (had he chosen to 

make this inquiry) was Deputy Turk’s report which is attached as an exhibit to the complaint.  

That document, however, actually disproves that Grayeyes had a principal place of residence in 

Arizona, that is, a “single location” with “fixed habitation” to which he always intended to 

return.  Turk’s witnesses, most of whom remained unidentified, variously stated that Mr. 

Grayeyes lived in Tuba City, Kayenta, Page, and Cameron (in addition to Navajo Mountain).  

Within one location, Tuba City, witnesses said Mr. Grayeyes lived in a number of different 

places, behind a car wash, in a red brick cinder house, and in a trailer by a church.  At one point 

in his nine pages of single-spaced analysis, Turk reports that Wendy Black told him that a young 

couple (who remain nameless) told her that Grayeyes lives in “Deshonto,” a place which, 

according to Google maps, simply does not exist.   

Witnesses from Arizona, according to Turk’s reportage, either could not identify or had 

difficulty pinpointing whether or where Mr. Grayeyes might have a fixed habitation at a single 
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location in that state.  “Ladies” in the main office of the Navajo Chapter House in Tuba City 

knew Mr. Grayeyes by name, but didn’t know where he lived.  People “behind the car wash” in 

Tuba City didn’t even know who Mr. Grayeyes was.  Carlene Yellowhair and Candelora Lehi, 

both of whom knew Mr. Grayeyes from shared tribal responsibilities, didn’t know where he 

might live in Arizona and in fact assumed he had residency in Navajo Mountain in light of his 

role as a chapter official in representing that area. The Navajo Police Department in Tuba City 

didn’t have an address for Mr. Grayeyes in Tuba City.  So they loaned Albert Nez, one of their 

investigators, to assist Turk in a search for Mr. Grayeyes.  They also recommended a call to the 

Navajo Police Department in the Kayenta District because “they knew Grayeyes lived in their 

area.”  But the folks in Kayenta district “had an address for him at the same spot where [Turk] 

had checked the Grayeyes family property [on Navajo Mountain].”  Then Turk called Kendall 

Laws for an update on the investigation and Kendall Laws reported that Kelly Pehrson, the San 

Juan County Manager, had reported that he had received an “anonymous tip” that Mr. Grayeyes 

lived with a girlfriend, Victoria Bygone, in Tuba City.  Following this lead, Turk contacted 

Lucida Johnson, the mother of Victoria Bygone, who informed Turk that Mr. Grayeyes “live[d] 

there with Victoria and added that Willie lives in Navajo Mountain,” adding again that “he is 

everywhere on the rez because he is a councilman.” This echoed another unnamed witness at 

Navajo Mountain who informed Turk that Mr. Grayeyes was “from” Navajo Mountain but lived 

“all over.”   Mr. Grayeyes himself told Turk that, although he stopped with his girlfriend when 

working in Arizona, he didn’t have a place of his own in Tuba City, a statement never 

contradicted in Turk’s report.  

Turk’s report was wrongfully commissioned by the County Clerk, John David Nielson, in 

the first instance, and is rank hearsay and inadmissible as evidence in all events.  But, even if we 
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grant Turk’s reportage a cursory look – when that look is directed at only the real issue in this 

case – it is impossible to translate the comments from witnesses like Ms. Johnson and others, 

namely, that Mr. Grayeyes is “everywhere on the rez” and Wendy Black’s quadruple hearsay 

that he was in “Deshonto,” a place from nowhere, and the suggestions that he was by turns in 

Page, Kayenta, Cameron, and four different sites in Tuba City into a conclusion that his principal 

place of residence was a “single location” with a “fixed habitation” in Arizona.   

In summary, Utah Code, §20A-2-105(5)(c) says that Mr. Grayeyes could not have lost 

the principal place of residence which – according to statutory directives and multiple 

circumstances – he had at Navajo Mountain unless and until, he moved and established a new 

principal place of residence in a fixed habitation in a single location in Arizona.  Petitioner’s 

complaint offers no relevant proof – clear, convincing, or otherwise – that this move was made 

or that it was made to any single location outside of San Juan County.  The election official for 

San Juan County, John David Nielson, admits in his deposition at pp. 104-105, which is attached 

as part of Exhibit O, that no such evidence, making any such proof, exists.   

5. Mr. Grayeyes Unquestionably Has His Principal Place of Residence at Navajo Mountain 

The evidence is overwhelming that Mr. Grayeyes has his principal place of residence at 

Navajo Mountain.  Let’s tally the facts. 

Deputy Turk and John David Nielson, the County Clerk and designated elections official 

for San Juan County under Utah law, both have admitted, under oath, that Mr. Grayeyes has his 

principal place of residence at Navajo Mountain.  Please see these deposition excerpts which are 

attached as Exhibits N and O. 

Mr. Grayeyes was born at Navajo Mountain.  He went to school in that community.  He 

has a blood sister who lives nearby with whom, according even to Turk’s report, he spends 60 to 
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70 percent of his time.  He also has a nephew living in the same vicinity.  Although Native 

Americans technically cannot “own” land on a reservation, within the more limited sense of 

natural custom and related traditions, it can be said that Mr. Grayeyes is “heir” to real property at 

Navajo Mountain, property which was left to him by more family members, his mother and an 

aunt.   

Mr. Grayeyes has been politically involved in San Juan County affairs for over 30 years.  

He registered to vote, claiming residency at Navajo Mountain, in 1984.  He re-registered to vote, 

using the same address, in 2016.  He in fact voted in most San Juan County elections throughout 

this period of time.  He ran for county commissioner in 2012 and in 2018.  He never has voted in 

Arizona, a fact confirmed by John David Nielson, the County Clerk, on page 93 of his deposition 

which is attached as part of Exhibit O.  Until this year, no law abiding citizen, election official, 

or other party in interest has attempted seriously to question the residency facts which are the 

legal predicates for this political activity.  Indeed, the fact that Mr. Grayeyes cast ballots in San 

Juan County in elections in 2016 and 2018 is highly significant in this case, since the last 

jurisdiction in which a person votes is presumed to be the location of his residence.  See 

Beauregaard v. Gunnison City, 160 P. 815, 818-819 (Utah 1916).   

Mr. Grayeyes has business pursuits, as well as employment, on and in relation to Navajo 

Mountain.  It is undisputed that he runs cattle at his homestead there, and, in Navajo tradition, 

the location of cattle is an important signifier of where one enjoys permanent residency.  It also 

is undisputed that Mr. Grayeyes works as a tribal official in the Navajo Nation, and that this 

work puts him front and center as a representative for the people of Navajo Mountain – the same 

citizens, it should be added, whom Mr. Grayeyes will represent in light of his election to the 

District 2 seat on the San Juan County Commission.  This work responsibility, in fact, is the 
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context for which he is known by the very few named witnesses in the Turk report.  More than 

this, Mr. Grayeyes is the chair of the board of trustees of a non-profit corporation, Utah Dine 

Bikeyah, which is organized under the laws of the state of Utah, headquartered in Salt Lake City, 

and dedicated to the promotion of the Bears Ears National Monument in San Juan County.  Even 

a cursory search on Google, unaided by Turk’s investigative prowess, shows that Mr. Grayeyes 

is the face of this movement which has been a cause celebre in southeastern Utah for at least the 

last 6 years.  The Petitioner, among others, did not care where Mr. Grayeyes lived or voted from 

1984 when he first registered until the second decade of the 21st Century.  But when Mr. 

Grayeyes became active in San Juan County issues, making the kinds of connections which 

durational residency requirements are purposed to advance, they pulled on the levers of power in 

local government in order to suppress his candidacy and silence his voice. 

Even the Turk report (although Turk knows nothing of land law on the Navajo 

reservation) notes that Mr. Grayeyes “owns” real property and runs cattle and has employment, 

as a tribal representative and community activist at Navajo Mountain, the three most important 

factors in determining voter registration residency according to Utah case law.  See Dodge v. 

Evans, 716 P. 2d 270, 274 (Utah 1985) (prison inmate deemed not resident in Salt Lake County 

for voter registration purposes because of want of ownership of real property or personal 

property and absence of “any other contacts” in that community).  Lorena Atene in Utah showed 

Turk a map in her possession respecting Mr. Grayeyes’s real property at Navajo Mountain, and 

the Navajo Police Department at Kayenta, Arizona, gave Turk, through his dispatcher, the 

address to this same real property.  And the real property, in Mr. Grayeyes’s case, is much more 

than mere land.  It is his inheritance, a birthright from his local clan, and the place where, at 

birth, that family buried his umbilical cord, a sacred ceremonial space which signifies home and 
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fixed habitation.  Mr. Grayeyes’s personal declaration as well as Dr. Begay’s expert testimony 

which are attached to this pleading explain and stress the significance of this indicator of 

principal place of residence, an indicator so significant that it has figured in Tenth Circuit 

opinions which bear upon this subject.   

In United States v. Tsosie, 849 F. Supp. 768 (D. N. M. 1994), Judge Hansen entered an 

order of abstention so that Navajo courts in the first instance could apply tribal custom, part of 

the common law of an Indian tribe, to determine a real property ownership issue between two 

members of the Navajo Nation.  Tsosie’s claim was based on the fact that her maternal ancestors 

had buried her umbilical cord on the land in question.  In deciding to allow Navajo Tribal Courts 

to decide this question in the first instance, Judge Hansen adverted to affidavit testimony from 

Tom Tso, a former Chief Justice of the Navajo Nation Supreme Court, who opined that Navajo 

cultural traditions are “sacred” because they are “rooted in religious songs, prayers and chants[,]” 

and for this reason are embodied as part of the Navajo common law.  Land “inherited” from 

maternal ancestors, according to Mr. Tso, has the status of res judicata as a principle.  And burial 

of the umbilical cord has “’profound significance,’” suggesting a fundamental tie to Mother 

Earth.  Tso opined that “’Relocating traditional Navajos from the land where their umbilical 

cords are buried and where they have always lived is uprooting them from their religion, and 

from a central part of their own identities.  There are no precise analogies in the non-Navajo 

society of which I am aware to describe the harm that such relocation causes.  It would be like 

yanking an infant away from its mother when the infant is still screaming and the mother is 

reaching for it, and the mother is killed of loneliness and the child is killed for lack of tenderness 

and sustenance.  It is tantamount to separating the Navajo from her spirit.’”   
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In contrast to these signifiers that Navajo Mountain is Mr. Grayeyes’s principal place of 

residence, all that Petitioner alleges is that Mr. Grayeyes owns a mobile home in Page, Arizona, 

a singularly unremarkable circumstance in a day and age when many of us own properties or 

hold investments in multiple jurisdictions, and that he has an Arizona driver’s license, a 

circumstance which, given the imperatives of life on the Navajo reservation, is not peculiar to 

Mr. Grayeyes, is well-known in official circles in San Juan County, and which, on prior 

occasions, has not disenfranchised any other Navajo voter.  Mr. Grayeyes’s affidavit, attached as 

Exhibit J, explains that the mobile home in Page, Arizona, is a non-issue.  The papers attached as 

Exhibits O and P, which include excerpts of the testimony given by John David Nielson as 

County Clerk in his deposition at pp. 30-33, demonstrate that ownership of an Arizona driver’s 

license should be given little or no weight under the circumstances of this case.  

The overall emphasis of the residency statute, Utah Code, §20A-2-105, is on the intent to 

return, notwithstanding absences of whatever length, to the residence in question and whether, 

when leaving, one has established a new principal place of residence, a fixed habitation, in a 

single location in another place.  Under Utah’s statute, the “intent to remain” or an “intent to 

return” are refrains which signify the sine qua non of a principal (the statute does not say 

“permanently or even frequently occupied”) place of residence. In short, it’s perfectly legitimate 

for a person to live in other states but remain a resident of San Juan County.  The statute, taken 

as a whole, expressly contemplate this result.  John David Nielson, on page 74 of his deposition, 

which is attached as part of Exhibit O, speaking in his capacity as the elections official for San 

Juan County, acknowledges as much.  

And even Turk’s report shows that Mr. Grayeyes returned often and always to Navajo 

Mountain, staying with his sister sixty or seventy percent of the time, commuting between Tuba 
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City and Navajo Mountain on tribal business and in order to collect his mail, going everywhere 

on the reservation in his capacity as a representative of  the Navajo Mountain Chapter of Navajo 

Nation, and in order to maintain a regular presence as local agitator for and ardent proponent of 

the Bears Ears National Monument (the circumstance which, ironically, most unsettles 

Republican candidates such as Petitioner Laws). In sum, even if we overlook the inadmissible 

nature of the Turk report, six of the 13 persons whom he interviewed, including his only named 

“witnesses,” gave information which indicated – by referencing official work, homestead maps, 

mail collection, visiting, staying, commuting, officiating -- that Grayeyes had a substantial, 

recurring presence in the Navajo Mountain community. The balance of Turk’s interviewees 

made inconclusive or irrelevant comments.  

THE DURATIONAL RESIDENCY REQUIREMENT IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL 

 Petitioner’s complaint is based upon the durational residency requirements which qualify 

a citizen’s right to seek office as county commissioner.  These requirements cannot form the 

basis of the complaint because (either on their face or as applied to the circumstances of this 

case) they are unconstitutional under the First and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States 

Constitution and under Article IV of the Utah Constitution. 

EQUITABLE ESTOPPEL AND WAIVER 

 The complaint may be barred by equitable estoppel and waiver. 

THE OFFICE OF LIEUTENANT GOVERNOR FOR THE STATE OF UTAH HAS 
JURISDICTION OVER THIS ELECTION CONTEST, AND PETITIONER HAS 

FAILED TO EXHAUST HIS ADMINISTRATIVE REMEDIES WITH THAT AGENCY 
 

 On November 30, 2018, Petitioner filed an unverified petition with the Office of the 

Lieutenant Governor of the state of Utah wherein he raised issues which are identical to the 

complaint which he has filed in this action.  The Lieutenant Governor has primary, if not 
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exclusive, jurisdiction over the issues surrounding Respondent’s qualification for election to the 

office of San Juan County Commissioner and Petitioner has not exhausted his administrative 

remedies before the Lt. Governor.  This complaint accordingly should be dismissed. 

RESPONDENT’S RESPONSE TO SPECIFIC  
AVERMENTS IN PETITIONER’S COMPLAINT 

 
 Having raised his affirmative defenses above, Respondent now addresses the numbered 

paragraphs of Petitioner’s complaint and admits, denies, and otherwise answers the material 

therein.   

1. Answering paragraphs 1, 2, and 6, Respondent admits the averments found in the 

same.  

2. Answering paragraphs 3, 4, 5, 12, and 45, Respondent denies the averments found in 

the same.  

3. Responding to paragraph 7, Respondent admits that Navajo Mountain is in district 2, 

but denies the balance of the averments therein for want of knowledge or information sufficient 

to form a belief respecting their veracity.  

4. Answering paragraphs 8, 9, 10, and 11 Respondent admits that he swore out the 

declaration of candidacy, as well as the April 19, 2018, declaration, and that (under the customs, 

traditions, and norms of Indian law) he has “inherited” an interest in property, located on Navajo 

Mountain, from his mother and an aunt, but affirmatively states that these documents speak for 

themselves and denies the balance of the averments found in the same as well as the inferences 

which Petitioner draws from them.  

5. Answering paragraph 13, Respondent admits that he has an Arizona driver’s license 

and that he does not have a Utah driver’s license and denies the claim that a Utah driver’s license 

“is required by Utah law to be obtained by anyone who claims to be a Utah resident.”  This 
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claim, moreover, has no foundation in the law – or in the footnote cited in Petitioner’s complaint.  

Residency for election law purposes is defined at Utah Code, §20A-2-105, which treats a great 

variety of relevant circumstances in assessing residency for political purposes – but does not 

mention driver’s licenses expressly as one of those.  Members of the Navajo Nation may vote, 

under Utah’s Voter ID statute, Utah Code, §20A-1-102(81), by presenting any number of 

documents – and not just a driver’s license – which establish residency on the Navajo 

reservation.  As shown by Respondent’s discussion in his affirmative defenses, as well as the 

pertinent exhibits appended thereto, there are many reasons why members of the Navajo Nation, 

such as Respondent, use Arizona rather than Utah driver’s licenses and the San Juan County 

Clerk does not disqualify such persons, from voting or running for office, as a result of that fact. 

Respondent denies the balance of the averments found in this paragraph of the complaint. 

6. Answering paragraph 14, Respondent denies these averments and refers the Court to 

the explanation of the mobile home in Page which is found in Exhibit J. 

7. Answering paragraph 15, Respondent denies these averments for want of knowledge or 

information sufficient to form a belief respecting their veracity.  As noted in Exhibit J, 

Respondent does not receive these property tax bills.  He also affirmatively alleges that whatever 

the Arizona tax authorities may think of the now-abandoned home for purposes of Arizona tax 

law, their thought is not relevant to his never-changing intent to use the Navajo Mountain home 

as his principal place of residence for purposes of Utah’s election code. 

8. Answering paragraph 16, Respondent admits that he occasionally spends time with a 

girlfriend and works in Tuba City, but denies the balance of the averments in this paragraph. 
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9. Answering paragraph 17, Respondent admits that he owns a horse and that this animal 

is kept by a relative in Arizona whom he sometimes visits and denies the balance of the 

averments found in this paragraph.  

10. Answering paragraph 18, Respondent admits that Deputy Turk conducted a so-called 

investigation but denies the balance of the averments in this paragraph. 

11. Answering paragraphs 19-45, Respondent denies these averments for a variety of 

reasons.  These statements are third hand reports which allegedly were collected by Deputy Turk.  

Respondent does not have knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief respecting their 

authenticity or veracity. He cannot account for how Deputy Turk or Petitioner Laws may have 

recorded or edited or otherwise corrupted the reports.  The reports, like Deputy Turk’s report 

itself, are hearsay and none are based on a foundation adequate to support their introduction into 

evidence, even if they were not out of court declarations. Moreover, the reports are based upon 

questions – giving no time frames or other relevant context -- which therefore have provoked 

answers which are not relevant to the subject-matter of the complaint.  These averments also are 

in the nature of argument, not fact, which need not be answered by pleading under Rule 8. 

12. Answering paragraph 47, Respondent admits that the Utah election code sets forth 

grounds for launching an election contest, but denies the balance of the averments in this 

paragraph. 

13. Answering paragraph 48, Respondent admits that this election contest involves the 

2018 election for county commissioner in District Two, but denies the balance of the averments 

in this paragraph for want of knowledge or information sufficient to form a belief respecting 

their veracity.  
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14. Answering paragraphs 49 to 56, Respondent affirmatively alleges that the Utah 

election code and law speak for themselves and denies the balance of the averments in these 

paragraphs. 

15. Answering paragraphs 57 to 64, Respondent denies these averments except to the 

extent he expressly may have admitted parts of them in his responses above.  He denies all of 

these averments since they are in the nature of argument, not fact, which do not warrant an 

answer under Rule 8. 

16. Respondent denies each and every averment of the complaint (or inferences to be 

taken therefrom) except to the extent that any particular averment expressly is admitted in this 

answer to the complaint. 

REQUEST FOR RELIEF 

 Having answered the complaint, Respondent asks the Court to dismiss the same for no 

cause of action.  He should be awarded his costs.  He also asks for an award of his attorneys’ fees 

on any or all bases that might be available at law or in equity.   

 Dated this 14th day of January, 2019. 

 
/ s / Alan L. Smith___________________  /s/  David R. Irvine    
Alan L. Smith      David R. Irvine 
 
 
MAYNES, BRADFORD, SHIPPS 
    & SHEFTEL, LLP 
 
 
/s/ Steven C. Boos     /s/  Eric P Swenson    

Steven C. Boos     Eric P. Swenson 
 
Attorneys for Plaintiffs 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 I hereby certify that on the 14th day of January, 2019 I electronically filed the foregoing 
ANSWER with the Seventh Judicial District Court in and for San Juan County, State of Utah.  
Notice will be electronically mailed to the following individuals representing Petitioner Kelly 
Laws:  

   PETER STIRBA 
   MATTHEW STROUT 
   STIRBA, P.C. 
   215 S. State Street, Suite 750 
   P.O. Box 810 
   Salt Lake City, Utah 84110-0810 
   Telephone: (801) 364-8300 
   Fax: (801) 364-8355 
   Email: peter@stirba.com 
    mstrout@stirba.com  
 

       /s/  Suzanne P. Singley   
       Suzanne P. Singley 

mailto:peter@stirba.com
mailto:mstrout@stirba.com
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EXHIBIT I 
 



BYLAWS of the 
UT AH DINE BIKEY AH ORGANIZATION 

ARTICLE I 
OFFICES 

Section 1.1 Business Offices. The principal office of the corporation shall be located in 
the city of Montezuma Creek and the county of San Juan in Utah. The corporation may 
have other offices either within or outside Utah, as designated by the Board of Directors 
or as the affairs of the corporation may require from time to time. 
Section 1.2 Registered Office is located at 30 E 300 N House# 23, Montezuma Creek, 
UT 84534. 
The registered office may be changed from time to time by the Board of Directors. 

ARTICLE II 
PURPOSES 

Section 2.1 Purposes. This corporation is organized exclusively for promoting the public 
welfare by providing education to members and the public at large in accordance with 
Section 50l(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code. 
Section 2.2 Specific Objectives and Purposes. The specific objectives and purposes of 
this corporation shall be: 
A. Providing education to members and the public at large concerning management, 
development, cultural significance, and use of the natural and cultural lands and resources 
of the Navajo People in Utah and the Four Corners Region. The Utah Dine Bikeyah 
Organization recognizes this region as being of international importance because of its 
historical/ archaeological significance, wilderness characteristics, diverse wildlife 
populations, and its globally unique geologic and natural features. 
B. Furthermore, the purposes of the Corporation are to ensure that the aboriginal territory 
of the Navajo Nation remain a landscape where the needs of the Utah Navajo people are 
satisfied in harmony with the continued long term viability of its native plants, fish, 
wildlife and natural ecosystems. 
C. Additionally, the purposes of the Corporation are to advance sustainable community 
and economic development in San Juan County, Utah and throughout the four-corners 
region. 
D. A primary goal will be to benefit the public as a whole by the prioritization, promotion 
and encouragement of the protection, beneficial use and management of reservation and 
US public lands of importance to the Utah Navajo. Also, to contribute to and improve the 
education, health and well-being of Utah Navajo People living within their traditional 
territory. 

Mission Statement: 
Preserving and protecting the cultural and natural resources of ancestral Navajo/Dine ' 

lands to benefit and bring healing to the earth and its people. 
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A B C D E F G H I J
Voter ID Last Name First Name Middle Name Name Suffix Status Permanent Absentee UOCAVA Registration Date Original Registration Date

5703926 Grayeyes Willie Active YES 7/18/2016 2/3/1984

K L M N O P Q R S T
Party Phone Mailing Address Mailing city, state  zip County ID Precinct House Number House Number Suffix Direction Prefix Street
Democratic (505)516-9742 San Juan 11 10035 Navajo Mtn. 14

U V W X Y Z AA AB AC AD
Direction Suffix Street Type Unit Type Unit Number City Zip Congressional State House State Senate State Schoolboard

Navajo Mtn 86044 3 73 27
AE AF AG AH AI AJ AK AL AM AN

Local Schoolboard County Council City Council 10/5/1999 How Voted 11/2/1999 How Voted 3/10/2000 How Voted 6/27/2000
Local School Board # 5 5 3/10/2000 Normal

AO AP AQ AR AS AT AU AV AW AX
How Voted 11/7/2000 How Voted 10/2/2001 How Voted 11/6/2001 How Voted 6/25/2002 How Voted 11/5/2002

11/7/2000 Normal 11/5/2002

AY AZ BA BB BC BD BE BF BG BH
How Voted 11/4/2003 How Voted 6/22/2004 How Voted 11/2/2004 How Voted 10/4/2005 How Voted 11/8/2005
Normal 11/2/2004 Normal

BI BJ BK BL BM BN BO BP BQ BR
How Voted 6/27/2006 How Voted 11/7/2006 How Voted 11/6/2007 How Voted 2/5/2008 How Voted 6/24/2008

11/7/2006 Normal 2/5/2008 Normal

BS BT BU BV BW BX BY BZ CA CB
How Voted 11/4/2008 How Voted 9/15/2009 How Voted 9/29/2009 How Voted 11/4/2009 How Voted 6/22/2010

11/4/2008 Normal

CC CD CE CF CG CH CI CJ CK CL
How Voted 11/2/2010 How Voted 9/13/2011 How Voted 11/8/2011 How Voted 6/26/2012 How Voted 11/6/2012

11/2/2010 Normal 9/17/2012

CM CN CO CP CQ CR CS CT CU CV
How Voted 8/13/2013 How Voted 11/5/2013 How Voted 6/24/2014 How Voted 11/4/2014 How Voted 8/11/2015
Normal 11/4/2014 Normal

CW CX CY CZ DA DB DC DD DE DF
How Voted 11/3/2015 How Voted 6/28/2016 How Voted 11/8/2016 How Voted 12/15/2016 How Voted 8/15/2017

11/3/2015 Normal 7/5/2016 Absentee 10/31/2016 Absentee

DG DH DI DJ DK DL DM
How Voted 11/7/2017 How Voted 6/26/2018 How Voted 11/6/2018 How Voted

10/26/2017 Absentee

Case 4:18-cv-00041-DN   Document 2-18   Filed 06/20/18   Page 2 of 2
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